

The Agile Initiative at the Oxford Martin School

Sprint 3: Scaling up Nature-based Solutions in the UK

BIODIVERSITY & SOIL HEALTH METRICS TOOL

USER GUIDE

JANUARY 2024

Emily Warner¹, Licida Giuliani², Grant Campbell², Pete Smith² and Alison Smith¹

¹ Nature-based Solutions Initiative, University of Oxford

² University of Aberdeen

Contents

Overview of the Biodiversity & Soil Health Metrics Tool	3
How to use the Tool	5
Planning ecological monitoring within a Nature-based Solutions project	6
Selecting your metrics	6
Planning your surveys – integrating data collection for multiple metrics	7
How the metrics were chosen and assessed	9
Literature review	9
Scoring the metrics	10
Glossary of Terms	12
Acknowledgements	14
References	15
Bibliography	15
Biodiversity metrics	15
Soil health metrics	27

Overview of the Biodiversity & Soil Health Metrics Tool

Nature-based Solutions (NbS) involve working with nature to tackle societal challenges, with benefits for both people and biodiversity. They cover a wide range of interventions, such as woodland creation to tackle flood and erosion risk, agro-ecological measures such as cover crops and beetle banks for sustainable farming, saltmarsh restoration for coastal protection, or green roofs and urban trees to reduce flooding and cool our cities.

It is important to monitor the outcomes of NbS, for several reasons:

- to build the evidence base on what works and what doesn't work, and demonstrate impacts to funders and stakeholders;
- to allow management to be adapted in response to any future environmental changes that threaten the success of the project;
- to identify and manage any trade-offs that occur between different objectives such as food production, flood protection, recreation, biodiversity and carbon storage.

Various tools and approaches exist for monitoring the different outcomes of NbS, but often monitoring is restricted to just one or two aspects such as carbon sequestration. This guide focuses on the ecological outcomes, both for biodiversity and soil health, which are often neglected. Some approaches for monitoring socio-economic outcomes are listed in the Agile Initiative's <u>Recipe for Engagement</u>.

The Biodiversity & Soil Health Metrics Tool provides practitioners with information to design effective ecological monitoring approaches for Nature-based Solutions (NbS) projects. There are many acknowledged and recognised biodiversity and soil health metrics used in academia, industry, and policy. This tool simplifies the selection process by highlighting the most informative and feasible metrics to provide a wide assessment of both biodiversity and soil health outcomes.

The biodiversity metrics chosen were derived from Noss's biodiversity framework (Noss 1990). This framework characterises the variety and variability of organisms and the processes that are crucial to maintaining them, identifying the major components (composition, structure, function) of biodiversity at multiple scales of organisation (landscape, community, population, genetic) (Figure 1).

Soil health reflects the capacity of soils to perform their optimal functionality and to sustain the delivery of important ecosystem services over the long-term (Faber et al. 2022; Guo 2021; Bonfante et al. 2020; Vogel et al. 2019). The soil health metrics in this framework cover biological, chemical, and physical properties (Figure 2).

	Composition	Structure	Function
Landscape	ldentity and proportion of habitat types	Landscape diversity, connectivity, fragmentation, patch size	Nutrient cycling, disturbance, energy flow
Community/ Ecosystem	Species diversity, dominance, similarity	Vegetation structure, tree age, tree diversity, deadwood	Productivity, pollination, seedling regeneration, colonisation
Population	Species abundance, species density	Biomass, range, population structure (ages)	Population fluctuations, biomass
Genetic	Allelic diversity	Effective population size, heterozygosity	Inbreeding, genetic drift

Figure 1. Noss' Hierarchy of Biodiversity (adapted from Noss 1990): three primary attributes of biodiversity at different scales, with examples of metrics (note: some metrics overlap multiple scales or attributes)

	Physical	Chemical	Biological
Landscape	Soil texture, soil structure, soil moisture, infiltration, bulk density, porosity	Soil carbon, electrical conductivity, CEC, pH, nutrients	
Community/ Ecosystem	Stability, porosity, bulk density, soil moisture, infiltration	Soil carbon, electrical conductivity, CEC, pH, nutrients	Litter decomposition, respiration, enzyme activity, N mineralisation
Population			Nematodes, earthworms, bacteria, collembola, fungi abundance
Genetic			Genetic composition and diversity of bacteria, fungi, etc

Figure 2. Structure of the soil health metrics, using the same scale categories as the Noss framework but different aspects of soil health (physical, chemical, biological).

Metrics are grouped into Tier 1, Tier 2, and Future metrics. Tier 1 covers a core set of metrics that broadly capture biodiversity and soil health responses to NbS interventions. Tier 2 represents metrics that are useful and informative but may be less feasible to monitor or only apply to some ecosystem types. Future metrics are assessed as being highly informative but currently not usually feasible for regular monitoring. Ideally, projects will select metrics that represent all axes of biodiversity (composition, structure, function) and soil health (biological, physical, chemical) at multiple scales (landscape, community, population).

How to use the Tool

The tool is for anyone implementing an NbS project and designing a monitoring protocol that covers biodiversity and soil health.

For each metric, the tool contains the following information:

- *Metric summary:* The relevance of the metric to biodiversity or soil health.
- Methodology summary: A summary of the sampling layout and data collection approach to follow, with links to existing standardised methodologies. Approaches for calculating the metrics (e.g. using software packages) are summarised. Where multiple related derived metrics are possible the pros/cons of each are summarised. Connections and linkages between metrics are also highlighted.
- *Metric threshold or direction of change:* Thresholds for the desired level of a metric or a desirable direction of change are given (where available).
- *Technological innovations:* Highlights developing technologies that could improve or simplify future data collection.

The metrics can be filtered using the following criteria (see <u>Glossary</u> for definitions):

- Type of metric (Biodiversity, Soil health)
- Aspect of biodiversity (Composition, Structure, Function)
- Aspect of soil health (Chemical, Physical, Biological)
- Scale (Landscape, Community, Population, Genetic)
- Tier (Tier 1, Tier 2, Future metrics)
- Ecosystem (Forest, Grassland, Peatland, Heathland, Saltmarsh, Wetland, Agricultural, Other)
- Cost (High, Medium, Low)
- Technical expertise (High, Medium, Low)
- Standardised methodology (Yes, No, Partial)

Planning ecological monitoring within a Nature-based Solutions project

Selecting your metrics

TIER

Tier 1 metrics provide the greatest amount of information on biodiversity and soil health while remaining feasible to measure. Where possible, projects should aim to collect data on all Tier 1 metrics.

Collectively, the Tier 1 metrics represent all aspects of biodiversity (Composition, Structure, Function) and soil health (Chemical, Physical, Biological).

Tier 2 metrics are designed to supplement the core data collection, providing opportunities to gain an understanding of additional aspects of biodiversity and soil health that are likely to be relevant in specific projects only.

Future metrics would be highly informative but have prohibitive data collection requirements or lack a standardised methodology, limiting the consistency of data collection across projects. Collection of these metrics may be possible in some projects but will require the development of a bespoke sampling plan and potentially a high level of specialist skills for processing samples and interpreting the derived data.

Sampling regimes should aim to integrate the simultaneous collection of as many of the selected the metrics as possible, to save duplication of effort (see section on Planning your surveys).

SCALE

Metric scale (see <u>Glossary</u>) should be interpreted based on the project context. For instance, landscape-scale metrics, such as landscape diversity, are most likely to be relevant to larger-scale projects with multiple habitats present. For metrics that are collected at the community scale, the optimum sampling intensity may depend on the project area: recommendations on how to scale this are given. Population-scale metrics focus on understanding species-level dynamics and will be particularly relevant to projects that have species-specific objectives. Genetic metrics provide information on underlying genetic diversity, which predicts long-term resilience, adaptive capacity, and vulnerability of a species. These are most relevant in projects targeting conservation of specific species and where the project area covers most of a distinct population of that species, or as part of a larger-scale monitoring effort.

COSTS

An indication of the costs involved in data collection is given. Costs may differ depending on existing expertise and staff already available to collect data. See <u>Glossary</u> for thresholds between different cost classifications.

TECHNICAL EXPERTISE

Technical expertise refers to the expertise required throughout the process of data collection, metric calculation, and interpretation. For example, *vegetation biomass* is a low technical expertise metric, simply requiring the diameter at breast height of trees to be measured. Collection of *invertebrate biomass* data requires a medium level of technical expertise: little expertise is required to collect the initial sample, but more specialist knowledge is needed to sort the specimens into high-level taxonomic groups. *Functional trait diversity* is a high expertise metric; expert taxonomic skills are needed to identify species and the process of classifying species by their functional traits and using R to calculate functional trait diversity also requires a high level of expert knowledge.

METHODOLOGY

We have noted where standardised methodologies for data collection are available. In some cases, the methodology will only cover part of the process, e.g. it might cover the sampling regime for species surveys, but not the process of deriving the species diversity metrics from the data collected.

TECHNOLOGICAL INNOVATIONS

For many metrics we note emerging technologies that have the potential to enhance and simplify monitoring in the future. For example:

- For monitoring *vegetation structure*, the use of LiDAR could help to standardise the sampling and metric derivation process, particularly in terms of collecting data across non-forest ecosystems.
- Species-level monitoring using eDNA reduces the need for taxonomic expertise however, it is currently very expensive and does not provide the abundance data needed to assess *species diversity* and *relative abundance*, which we have highlighted as important for understanding the ecological communities within NbS projects.

Planning your surveys – integrating data collection for multiple metrics

Data collection for different metrics should be co-located where possible.

BIODIVERSITY

- Landscape diversity requires a full site survey, mapping habitat areas of 400 square metres or more. Habitat areas are calculated from this survey. The landscape diversity survey can be used calculate the areas of different habitat types within a project. This can be used to stratify sample plots by habitat type: sample plots are proportionately allocated based on the area of each habitat within the site, with more plots on habitats covering the largest areas. In large sites with distinct habitat types, multiple plots per habitat type will allow metrics at the habitat-level.
- Species diversity surveys are collected using either transect-based methods or plot-based methods – surveys should aim for shared plots/transects across taxonomic groups and intersection of plots and transects. Suggestions on minimum numbers of plots per site/habitat type are given in the methodology summary for each metric.

- *Dominance-diversity curves, similarity,* and *absolute/relative abundance* are derived from the data collected during species diversity surveys.
- *Functional trait diversity* and *identity* are derived by linking functional trait data to data collected during the *species diversity* surveys.
- *Vegetation structure* data is collected using plots. These should be overlaid with the *species diversity* plots where possible and, in large sites with multiple habitats, stratified by habitat type.
 - For forests a standardised method is available following the National Forestry Inventory methodology.
 - For herbaceous-dominated ecosystems (grassland, peatland, wetland, saltmarsh) and shrub-dominated ecosystems (heathland, scrub) there are no standardised methodologies available in the UK, but modification of a methodology used in the US is suggested.
- Vegetation biomass data is collected using plots.
 - For forest ecosystems, metrics are derived from the data collected during *vegetation structure* surveys.
 - For herbaceous-dominated ecosystems (grassland, peatland, wetland, saltmarsh) and shrub-dominated ecosystems (scrub, heathland), destructive sampling is required so sampling should not occur within the *species diversity* or *vegetation structure* plots. Plot placement for *vegetation biomass* should be in areas that are representative of the *species diversity/vegetation structure* plots.
- Tree diversity, tree age and seedling regeneration data can be collected during the vegetation structure surveys.
- *Pollination* data is collected using pan traps; these should be aligned with data collection for *species diversity* and stratified by habitat type.
- Deadwood volume is collected in the same plots as vegetation structure, tree diversity, tree age and seedling regeneration data.

SOIL HEALTH

Texture, soil moisture, cation exchange capacity, soil organic carbon, pH, nutrient analysis (P,K,N), electrical conductivity, N-mineralisation and soil respiration can all be sampled using the same sampling pattern and samples could be taken at the same time, ready for laboratory analysis. Each sample location should be recorded with GPS, to ensure that subsequent sampling is taken from the same place. Fields up to 10 hectares can be sampled as one unit, providing each field is uniform (same soil type and management), by sending a composite sample to the laboratory. Each composite sample will be composed of a minimum of 20 samples collected following the recommendations in the metric methodology, and mixed thoroughly together before sending to

the laboratory. This composite sample will give an average of the whole field. Larger fields and fields that are not uniform should be subdivided and each part sampled separately.

- When digging a soil pit for visually assessing *soil structure,* it is possible to integrate the visual assessment of *porosity*, surveying *earthworms*, and assessing *aggregate stability*.
- *Litter decomposition* bags can be placed in specific areas within the grid cells where visual assessments of soil structure are taking place, as well as measurements of *infiltration rates*.
- *Nematodes* are usually unevenly distributed and sampling procedure needs to be more thorough. At least 50 cores must be taken evenly from an area of no more than 4 hectares.

How the metrics were chosen and assessed

Literature review

As a starting point for selecting biodiversity metrics we used Noss' Biodiversity Hierarchy (Noss 1990). Noss' Hierarchy organises biodiversity into three sub-categories: composition, structure, and function, aiming to capture the breadth and complexity of biodiversity (Figure 1). These metrics apply at different scales (landscape, community, population, genetic). For each category of biodiversity at each scale, Noss defines metrics or groups of metrics. These were supplemented by literature searches on biodiversity monitoring, biodiversity metrics, ecological indicators, ecological integrity, and ecological health, and assessment of the grey literature, to provide the maximum set of metrics. The literature reviewed is listed in the Bibliography.

Soil health can be classified using a combination of physical, chemical, and biological indicators (Jian et al. 2020). Potential metrics of soil health were identified through literature searches of academic and grey literature on soil health monitoring, soil health indicators, soil quality, soil ecosystem services, soil biological indicators, soil biodiversity, soil physical indicators, soil chemical indicators and soil health assessment. A total of 118 indicators were obtained from the literature, these were then ranked by frequency and the percentage of papers and monitoring frameworks that considered each metric in their assessments was calculated. The indicators that were mentioned in at least 20 % of the literature were shortlisted. Indicators that were considered as part of the minimum set of indicators required for a monitoring framework in grey literature, even if not mentioned in at least 20 % of the academic literature, were also considered and combined with the shortlist. This yielded a total of 39 indicators, which were further evaluated to select the minimum set of metrics as described in the section on Scoring the metrics.

Methodologies for data collection for both soil and biodiversity indicators were identified during the literature, grey literature, and web searches. We prioritised identification of existing standardised methodologies and monitoring schemes. This will allow integration with existing datasets, comparison between sites, and comparison to UK-wide trends. The UK National Biodiversity Network database of Wildlife Survey and Recording Schemes (<u>https://nbn.org.uk/tools-and-resources/useful-websites/database-of-wildlife-surveys-and-recording-schemes/</u>) and UK Environmental Change

Network (<u>https://ecn.ac.uk/measurements</u>) were used to identify standardised methodologies for taxonomic monitoring – mostly focussed on surveying specific taxonomic groups. Habitat-focussed survey schemes e.g. the UK Habitat Classification, UK Countryside Survey and the National Forest Inventory were also assessed. Soil health focused survey schemes that included standardised methodologies were identified, e.g. the UK Countryside Survey, AHDB soil health score card, FAO Soil Doctor Programme and Farm Carbon Toolkit.

The most relevant and useful metrics were identified by reviewing literature to assess evidence on the relationship between each metric and biodiversity or soil health. Information on pros, cons, and feasibility was also evaluated during the literature review process. We collated information on technological innovations that could simplify or accelerate the data collection process in the future.

Scoring the metrics

As discussed above, Tier 1 indicators cover a core set of metrics that broadly capture the response of biodiversity and soil health to NbS interventions. Tier 2 metrics build on the Tier 1 metrics and in some cases are applicable to some ecosystem types only. Future metrics are indicators that are highly informative but generally not yet feasible to collect, and/or require further testing and development.

To help to group the metrics into Tier 1, Tier 2 and Future, we developed a scoring system assessing informativeness and feasibility of data collection for each metric (Table 1). The derived scores served as a guide for metric selection, and assessment of the suitability of each metric was also based on the literature review described above. Each metric was assigned 1, 2, or 3 points for each criterion; more points indicate better metric performance for that criterion. For example, 3 points for Relevance means there is strong evidence that the metric is relevant to biodiversity or 3 points for Cost means the metric is less expensive to monitor. The maximum possible score is 36 points.

For the biodiversity metrics, Tier 1 required an informativeness score \geq 15, a feasibility score \geq 12, and met the additional criteria of being applicable across all ecosystem types. Tier 2 metrics had an informativeness score 12-14 and a feasibility score \geq 12; some Tier 2 metrics are applicable in some ecosystem types only. Future metrics scored <12 for feasibility and were split into Future Tier 1 if informativeness scored \geq 15 and Future Tier 2 if informativeness scored 12-14.

For soil health, Tier 1 metrics scored \geq 30, Tier 2 metrics scored 25-30 and Future metrics scored 23-25. All indicators scoring <30 points underwent additional scrutiny if they demonstrated a high degree of informativeness and relevance. In-depth analysis was conducted, including a comprehensive literature review, to assess their potential suitability as either Tier 2 or prospective metrics for future consideration. Metrics that scored 25 were further analysed and if their lower score was due to lower feasibility, they were not included in Tier 2 and were categorised as Future metrics despite being informative.

Table 1. Criteria used to score biodiversity and soil health metrics.

Informativeness	Feasibility
Relevance: How strong is the evidence that the metric is directly or indirectly relevant to biodiversity/soil health?	Sample collection: How straightforward is sample collection & analysis?
Information rich: How many metrics can be calculated from one data collection method? Can the metric be used as a surrogate for other metrics?	Cost: How expensive is data collection and analysis?
Sensitivity: How sensitive is the metric to management changes?	Technical: How much technical expertise or equipment is needed?
Functions/services: Are there clear links between the metric and ecosystem functions and derived services?	Methodology: Is there an existing standardised methodology available?
Applicability: Can the metric be applied across habitat types?	Compatibility: Is the methodology robust and repeatable?
Literature: How widely is the metric considered in the academic literature?	Interpretation: How easy are results to interpret?

The biodiversity metrics *functional trait diversity* and *identity* were elevated from Future Metrics to Tier 1, despite a feasibility score of 11, to represent the Function aspect of biodiversity within Tier 1. These two metrics lack a clearly defined framework for classifying species by functional traits, however we offer guidance for applying functional traits in different contexts, which can be tailored to meet project needs. *Vegetation structure* is also an informative biodiversity metric but currently lacks a standardised and straightforward data collection approach in some ecosystem types. However, we encourage practitioners to work with guidance provided to collect data on vegetation structure in their projects and have therefore included it in Tier 1.

Glossary of Terms

METRIC TYPE

Biodiversity: Metrics representing the diversity of living organisms within a Nature-based Solutions (NbS) project. Biodiversity supports the functioning of ecosystems and their capacity to deliver ecosystem services. It is captured at multiple scales, from genetic to landscape scale.

Soil health: The current capacity of a soil to function within natural or managed ecosystem and landuse boundaries. The healthier a soil is, the better it is at providing important ecosystem services and helping to sustain plant, human and animal productivity and health.

ASPECT OF BIODIVERSITY

Composition: The identity and variety of elements that comprise biodiversity. Composition indicators describe the species present and the communities that they form. Example indicators: habitat types, species diversity, allelic diversity (diversity of alleles within population).

Structure: The physical organisation within a system. Structural indicators describe the physical patterns that support species. Example indicators: habitat diversity, vegetation structure, genetic heterozygosity (presence of two different alleles at a locus within an individual).

Function: The ecological and evolutionary processes and dynamics that underpin functioning within a system. Function indicators describe the processes that result from interactions between species, species interactions with the physical environment, and genetic processes within species. Example indicators: natural disturbances, nutrient cycling, gene flow.

ASPECT OF SOIL HEALTH

Biological: Indicators connecting to living organisms within or connected to soil. Biological indicators are more dynamic in nature than chemical and physical indicators, and therefore will change more over time and with management. Example indicators: earthworms, nematodes, bacteria, soil respiration, microbial activity.

Chemical: Indicators connecting to substances of which matter is composed. Chemical indicators relate to soil properties and how they react/change over time. Example indicators: pH, Cation Exchange Capacity (CEC), Soil Organic Carbon (SOC), salinity, heavy metals.

Physical: Indicators connected to the structure of a soil, particularly in connection to solid particles and pores. Physical indicators primarily reflect limitations to root growth, seedling emergence, infiltration, or movement of water within the soil profile. Example indicators: bulk density, porosity, texture, compaction, aggregate stability.

SCALE

Landscape: Metrics that apply at landscape scales, encompassing a mosaic of habitat types, landforms, and land uses. (Measurement scale: 100m – km)

Community: Metrics that apply at the ecosystem scale, focussing on a group of interdependent plants and animals usually within a relatively homogeneous area of habitat. (Measurement scale: cm – 100m)

Population: Metrics that apply at the species level, assessing population trends. (Measurement scale: mm – m)

Genetic: Metrics that assess genetic variation and processes within species. (Measurement scale: nm – mm)

TIER

Tier 1: Metrics that are highly informative, have standardised methodologies available, are highly feasible to monitor and apply across all ecosystem types.

Tier 2: Metrics that are informative, but methods for data collection may only be partially available or metrics are less feasible to monitor.

Future metrics: Highly informative metrics but methodology not standardised and generally unfeasible to monitor (i.e., requires high level of expertise or costs too high).

ECOSYSTEM

Agriculture: Areas characterised by production of crops and raising livestock. This can include cropland, pasture, and agroforestry.

Forest: Areas with >25% tree cover (that are more than 5m in height).

Grassland: Vegetated areas (not on waterlogged soils) characterised by herbaceous vegetation (>75% grasses, sedges, rushes, ferns & forbs) rather than woody vegetation.

Heathland: Vegetated areas with >25% cover of plants from the heath family, dwarf gorse, or western gorse.

Peatland: Rain-fed inundated or waterlogged habitats where peat has formed.

Saltmarsh: The upper, vegetated portions of intertidal mudflats.

Wetland (non-peat): Vegetated areas that are waterlogged or inundated, but with greater variation in the water table (compared to peatlands) which prevents peat formation.

COST

The exact expenses can differ considerably depending on the location, and are influenced by factors such as the availability of laboratories or specialized field equipment. There are many soil testing facilities in the UK and pricing information is frequently obtainable only through direct inquiries. The exact expenses will also be influenced by the uniformity of the area to be sampled. As for uniform plots it is possible to send composite samples to the laboratory, in which case you still sample 20

different spots but mix them properly and send off only 1 sample to the laboratory (max for 10 Ha of uniform fields/plots) incurring in lower laboratory costs than described below.

Low: Limited funds required for fieldwork activities. Cost of sampling a 10-ha field <£600 for soil health and <£2000 for biodiversity.

Medium: Requires some funding for fieldwork activities. Cost of sampling a 10-ha field £600-£1200 for soil health and £2000-5000 for biodiversity.

High: Requires high funding for fieldwork activities. Cost of sampling a 10-ha field >£1200 for soil health and >£5000 for biodiversity.

TECHNICAL EXPERTISE

Low: Requires limited knowledge and understanding to collect data and/or does not require a high level of technology or machinery and/or does not require technical expertise to analyse/interpret results.

Medium: Requires moderate knowledge and understanding to collect data and/or requires moderate understanding of appropriate technology or machinery and/or requires moderate technical expertise to analyse/interpret results.

High: Requires expert knowledge and understanding to collect data and/or requires a high level of technology or machinery and/or requires technical expertise to analyse/interpret results.

STANDARDISED METHODOLOGY

Yes: International/nationally recognised methodology (including sampling regime, sampling method and metric calculation).

No: No international/nationally recognised methodology (including sampling regime, sampling method and metric calculation).

Partial: International/nationally recognised methodology (including sampling regime, sampling method & metric calculation) partly established or only covers part of the process of metric calculation.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Natural Environment Research Council (NERC) [grant number NE/W004976/1] as part of the Agile Initiative at the Oxford Martin School.

https://www.agile-initiative.ox.ac.uk/

References

Bonfante A, Basile A, Bouma J (2020) Targeting the soil quality and soil health concepts when aiming for the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals and the EU Green Deal. Soil 6:453–466

Ettema CH, Wardle DA (2002) Spatial soil ecology. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 17:177–183

Faber JH et al. (2022) Stocktaking for Agricultural Soil Quality and Ecosystem Services Indicators and their Reference Values. EJP SOIL Internal Project SIREN Deliverable 2.

Guo M (2021) Soil health assessment and management: Recent development in science and practices. Soil Systems 5

Jian J, Du X, Stewart RD (2020) A database for global soil health assessment. Scientific Data 7:3–10

Knight KB, Seddon ES, Toombs TP (2020) A framework for evaluating biodiversity mitigation metrics. Ambio 49:1232–1240

Noss RF (1990) Indicators for Monitoring Biodiversity: A Hierarchical Approach. Conservation Biology 4:355–364

Vogel HJ et al. (2019) Quantitative Evaluation of Soil Functions: Potential and State. Frontiers in Environmental Science 7

Bibliography

Biodiversity metrics

Agnew, J. M. and Rao, S. (2014) 'The creation of structural diversity and deadwood habitat by ringbarking in a Scots pine Pinus sylvestris plantation in the Cairngorms, UK', Conservation Evidence, 2(0790), pp. 43–47.

Anderson, C. B. (2018) 'Biodiversity monitoring, earth observations and the ecology of scale', Ecology Letters, 21(10), pp. 1572–1585. doi: 10.1111/ele.13106.

Ärje, J. et al. (2020) 'Automatic image-based identification and biomass estimation of invertebrates', Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 11(8), pp. 922–931. doi: 10.1111/2041-210X.13428.

Barlow, S. E. and O'Neill, M. A. (2020) 'Technological advances in field studies of pollinator ecology and the future of e-ecology', Current Opinion in Insect Science, 38, pp. 15–25. doi: 10.1016/j.cois.2020.01.008.

Barnes, A. D. et al. (2014) 'Consequences of tropical land use for multitrophic biodiversity and ecosystem functioning', Nature Communications, 5, pp. 1–7. doi: 10.1038/ncomms6351.

Bascompte, J., Possingham, H. and Roughgarden, J. (2002) 'Patchy populations in stochastic environments: Critical number of patches for persistence', American Naturalist, 159(2), pp. 128–137. doi: 10.1086/324793.

Bista, I. et al. (2018) 'Performance of amplicon and shotgun sequencing for accurate biomass estimation in invertebrate community samples', Molecular Ecology Resources, 18(5), pp. 1020–1034. doi: 10.1111/1755-0998.12888.

Botta-Dukát, Z. (2005) 'Rao's quadratic entropy as a measure of functional diversity based on multiple traits', Journal of Vegetation Science, 16(5), p. 533. doi: 10.1658/1100-9233(2005)16[533:rqeaam]2.0.co;2.

Bradbury, R. B. et al. (2005) 'Modelling relationships between birds and vegetation structure using airborne LiDAR data: A review with case studies from agricultural and woodland environments', Ibis, 147(3), pp. 443–452. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-919x.2005.00438.x.

Bradshaw, C. J. A. et al. (2016) 'Massive yet grossly underestimated global costs of invasive insects', Nature Communications, 7. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12986.

Broughton, R. K. et al. (2022) 'Slow development of woodland vegetation and bird communities during 33 years of passive rewilding in open farmland', PLoS ONE, 17(11 November), pp. 1–19. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0277545.

Buckland, S. T. et al. (2005) 'Monitoring change in biodiversity through composite indices', Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 360(1454), pp. 243–254. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2004.1589.

Bunce, R. G. H. et al. (2013) 'The significance of habitats as indicators of biodiversity and their links to species', Ecological Indicators, 33, pp. 19–25. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2012.07.014.

Burrascano, S. et al. (2018) 'Congruence across taxa and spatial scales: Are we asking too much of species data?', Global Ecology and Biogeography, 27(8), pp. 980–990. doi: 10.1111/geb.12766.

Buschke, F. T. (2021) 'Neutral theory reveals the challenge of bending the curve for the post-2020 Global Biodiversity Framework', Ecology and Evolution, 11(20), pp. 13678–13683. doi: 10.1002/ece3.8097.

Buzhdygan, O. Y. et al. (2020) 'Biodiversity increases multitrophic energy use efficiency, flow and storage in grasslands', Nature Ecology and Evolution, 4(3), pp. 393–405. doi: 10.1038/s41559-020-1123-8.

Calabrese, J. M. and Fagan, W. F. (2004) 'A comparison-shopper's guide to connectivity metrics', Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 2(10), pp. 529–536. doi: 10.1890/1540-9295(2004)002[0529:ACGTCM]2.0.CO;2.

Calders, K. et al. (2022) 'Laser scanning reveals significant underestimation of biomass carbon in temperate forests', Ecological Solutions and Evidence, (November), pp. 1–30. doi: 10.1002/2688-8319.12197.

Cardinale, B. J. et al. (2012) 'Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity', Nature, 486(7401), pp. 59–67. doi: 10.1038/nature11148.

Chapin III, S. F. et al. (2000) 'Consequences of changing biodiversity', Nature, 405(May), pp. 234–242. Available at: www.nature.com.

Chase, J. M. and Knight, T. M. (2013) 'Scale-dependent effect sizes of ecological drivers on biodiversity: Why standardised sampling is not enough', Ecology Letters, 16(SUPPL.1), pp. 17–26. doi: 10.1111/ele.12112.

Chazdon, R. L. et al. (2023) 'Monitoring recovery of tree diversity during tropical forest restoration: Lessons from long-term trajectories of natural regeneration', Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 378(1867). doi: 10.1098/rstb.2021.0069.

Chazdon, R. L. and Guariguata, M. R. (2016) 'Natural regeneration as a tool for large-scale forest restoration in the tropics: prospects and challenges', Biotropica, 48(6), pp. 716–730. doi: 10.1111/btp.12381.

Chiarucci, A., Bacaro, G. and Scheiner, S. M. (2011) 'Old and new challenges in using species diversity for assessing biodiversity', Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 366(1576), pp. 2426–2437. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2011.0065.

Cosović, M. et al. (2020) 'Stand structural characteristics are the most practical biodiversity indicators for forest management planning in Europe', Forests, 11(3). doi: 10.3390/f11030343.

Damuth, J. (2023) 'Wild mammals through the lens of biomass rather than biodiversity', Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 120(13), pp. 1–2. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2301652120.

Deane, D. C. et al. (2020) 'Quantifying factors for understanding why several small patches host more species than a single large patch', Biological Conservation, 249(July), p. 108711. doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2020.108711.

Deiner, K. et al. (2017) 'Environmental DNA metabarcoding: Transforming how we survey animal and plant communities', Molecular Ecology, 26(21), pp. 5872–5895. doi: 10.1111/mec.14350.

Demol, M. et al. (2022) 'Estimating forest above-ground biomass with terrestrial laser scanning: Current status and future directions', Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 13(8), pp. 1628–1639. doi: 10.1111/2041-210X.13906. Díaz, S. and Cabido, M. (2001) 'Vive la différence: Plant functional diversity matters to ecosystem processes', Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 16(11), pp. 646–655. doi: 10.1016/S0169-5347(01)02283-2.

Dornelas, M. (2010) 'Disturbance and change in biodiversity', Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 365(1558), pp. 3719–3727. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2010.0295.

Ehrenfeld, J. G. (2010) 'Ecosystem consequences of biological invasions', Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 41, pp. 59–80. doi: 10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-102209-144650.

Elbrecht, V., Peinert, B. and Leese, F. (2017) 'Sorting things out: Assessing effects of unequal specimen biomass on DNA metabarcoding', Ecology and Evolution, 7(17), pp. 6918–6926. doi: 10.1002/ece3.3192.

Engen, S., Lande, R. and Sæther, B. E. (2002) 'The spatial scale of population fluctuations and quasiextinction risk', American Naturalist, 160(4), pp. 439–451. doi: 10.1086/342072.

Evans, P. M. et al. (2019) 'Testing the relative sensitivity of 102 ecological variables as indicators of woodland condition in the New Forest, UK', Ecological Indicators, 107(December 2018), p. 105575. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2019.105575.

Fahrig, L. et al. (2019) 'Is habitat fragmentation bad for biodiversity?', Biological Conservation, 230(September 2018), pp. 179–186. doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2018.12.026.

Fahrig, L. et al. (2022) 'Resolving the SLOSS dilemma for biodiversity conservation: a research agenda', Biological Reviews, 97(1), pp. 99–114. doi: 10.1111/brv.12792.

Fediajevaite, J. et al. (2021) 'Meta-analysis shows that environmental DNA outperforms traditional surveys, but warrants better reporting standards', Ecology and Evolution, 11(9), pp. 4803–4815. doi: 10.1002/ece3.7382.

Ferris, R. and Humphrey, J. W. (1999) 'A review of potential biodiversity indicators for application in British forests', Forestry, 72(4), pp. 313–328. doi: 10.1093/forestry/72.4.313.

Fleishman, E. et al. (2002) 'Assessing the roles of patch quality, area, and isolation in predicting metapopulation dynamics', Conservation Biology, 16(3), pp. 706–716. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1739.2002.00539.x.

Fletcher, R. J. et al. (2018) 'Is habitat fragmentation good for biodiversity?', Biological Conservation, 226(April), pp. 9–15. doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2018.07.022.

Flowerdew, J. R. et al. (2004) 'Live trapping to monitor small mammals in Britain', Mammal Review, 34(1–2), pp. 31–50. doi: 10.1046/j.0305-1838.2003.00025.x.

Forestry Commission (2020) NFI woodland ecological condition in Great Britain: Methodology.

Frankham, R. (1995) 'Effective population size/adult population size ratios in wildlife: A review', Genetics Research, 66, pp. 95–107. doi: 10.1017/S0016672308009695.

Franzén, M. et al. (2013) 'Population Fluctuations and Synchrony of Grassland Butterflies in Relation to Species Traits', PLoS ONE, 8(10), pp. 1–7. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0078233.

Frye, H. A. et al. (2021) 'Plant spectral diversity as a surrogate for species, functional and phylogenetic diversity across a hyper-diverse biogeographic region', Global Ecology and Biogeography, 30(7), pp. 1403–1417. doi: 10.1111/geb.13306.

Gaggiotti, O. E. et al. (2018) 'Diversity from genes to ecosystems: A unifying framework to study variation across biological metrics and scales', Evolutionary Applications, 11(7), pp. 1176–1193. doi: 10.1111/eva.12593.

Gao, T. et al. (2014) 'The role of forest stand structure as biodiversity indicator', Forest Ecology and Management, 330, pp. 82–93. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2014.07.007.

Gao, T., Nielsen, A. B. and Hedblom, M. (2015) 'Reviewing the strength of evidence of biodiversity indicators for forest ecosystems in Europe', Ecological Indicators, 57, pp. 420–434. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2015.05.028.

Gravel, D. et al. (2010) 'Patch dynamics, persistence, and species coexistence in metaecosystems', American Naturalist, 176(3), pp. 289–302. doi: 10.1086/655426.

Greenspoon, L. et al. (2023) 'The global biomass of wild mammals', Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 120(10). doi: 10.1073/pnas.

Gullett, P. R. et al. (2023) 'Woodland expansion in the presence of deer: 30 years of evidence from the Cairngorms Connect landscape restoration partnership', Journal of Applied Ecology, (August), pp. 1–11. doi: 10.1111/1365-2664.14501.

Guo, X. et al. (2017) 'Regional mapping of vegetation structure for biodiversity monitoring using airborne lidar data', Ecological Informatics, 38, pp. 50–61. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoinf.2017.01.005.

Haines-Young, R. and Chopping, M. (1996) 'Quantifying landscape structure: A review of landscape indices and their application to forested landscapes', Progress in Physical Geography, 20(4), pp. 418–445. doi: 10.1177/030913339602000403.

Halaj, J., Ross, D. W. and Moldenke, A. R. (2000) 'Importance of habitat structure to the arthropod food-web in Douglas-fir canopies', Oikos, 90(1), pp. 139–152. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0706.2000.900114.x.

Hanski, I. (2011) 'Habitat loss, the dynamics of biodiversity, and a perspective on conservation', Ambio, 40(3), pp. 248–255. doi: 10.1007/s13280-011-0147-3.

Hardersen, S. and La Porta, G. (2023) 'Never underestimate biodiversity: how undersampling affects Bray–Curtis similarity estimates and a possible countermeasure', European Zoological Journal, 90(2), pp. 660–672. doi: 10.1080/24750263.2023.2249007.

Heath, J. P. (2006) 'Quantifying temporal variability in population abundances', Oikos, 115(3), pp. 573–581. doi: 10.1111/j.2006.0030-1299.15067.x.

Heinrichs, J. A. et al. (2015) 'Effects of landscape and patch-level attributes on regional population persistence', Journal for Nature Conservation, 26, pp. 56–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jnc.2015.05.002.

Hekkala, A. M. et al. (2023) 'Habitat heterogeneity is a good predictor of boreal forest biodiversity', Ecological Indicators, 148(October 2022). doi: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2023.110069.

Hillebrand, H. et al. (2018) 'Biodiversity change is uncoupled from species richness trends: Consequences for conservation and monitoring', Journal of Applied Ecology, 55(1), pp. 169–184. doi: 10.1111/1365-2664.12959.

Hoban, S. et al. (2020) 'Genetic diversity targets and indicators in the CBD post-2020 Global Biodiversity Framework must be improved', Biological Conservation, 248(July), p. 108654. doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2020.108654.

Honnay, O. et al. (2003) 'Satellite based land use and landscape complexity indices as predictors for regional plant species diversity', Landscape and Urban Planning, 63(4), pp. 241–250. doi: 10.1016/S0169-2046(02)00194-9.

Johst, K. et al. (2011) 'Biodiversity conservation in dynamic landscapes: Trade-offs between number, connectivity and turnover of habitat patches', Journal of Applied Ecology, 48(5), pp. 1227–1235. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2664.2011.02015.x.

Jucker, T. et al. (2017) 'Allometric equations for integrating remote sensing imagery into forest monitoring programmes', Global Change Biology, 23(1), pp. 177–190. doi: 10.1111/gcb.13388.

Jucker, T. et al. (2023) 'Using multi-platform LiDAR to guide the conservation of the world's largest temperate woodland', Remote Sensing of Environment, 296(December 2022). doi: 10.1016/j.rse.2023.113745.

Kaiser-Bunbury, C. N. and Blüthgen, N. (2015) 'Integrating network ecology with applied conservation: A synthesis and guide to implementation', AoB PLANTS, 7. doi: 10.1093/aobpla/plv076.

Kindlmann, P. and Burel, F. (2008) 'Connectivity measures: A review', Landscape Ecology, 23(8), pp. 879–890. doi: 10.1007/s10980-008-9245-4.

Kirby, K. J. et al. (1998) 'Preliminary estimates of fallen dead wood and standing dead trees in managed and unmanaged forests in Britain', Journal of Applied Ecology, 35(1), pp. 148–155. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2664.1998.00276.x.

Kral-O'brien, K. C. et al. (2021) 'Meta-analysis: Higher Plant Richness Supports Higher Pollinator Richness across Many Land Use Types', Annals of the Entomological Society of America, 114(2), pp. 267–275. doi: 10.1093/aesa/saaa061.

Kremen, C. (2018) 'The value of pollinator species diversity most crop-visiting species are needed to ensure high levels of crop pollination', Science, 359(6377), pp. 741–742. doi: 10.1126/science.aar7614.

Lacher, T. E. et al. (2019) 'The functional roles of mammals in ecosystems', Journal of Mammalogy, 100(3), pp. 942–964. doi: 10.1093/jmammal/gyy183.

Lamarre, G. P. A. et al. (2020) 'Monitoring tropical insects in the 21st century', in Dumbrell, A. J., Turner, E. C., and Fayle, T. M. (eds) Advances in Ecological Research.

von Lampe, F. and Schellenberg, J. (2023) 'Package "goeveg "'.

Langellotto, G. A. and Denno, R. F. (2004) 'Responses of invertebrate natural enemies to complexstructured habitats: A meta-analytical synthesis', Oecologia, 139(1), pp. 1–10. doi: 10.1007/s00442-004-1497-3.

Larrieu, L. et al. (2018) 'Cost-efficiency of cross-taxon surrogates in temperate forests', Ecological Indicators, 87(October 2017), pp. 56–65. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.12.044.

Larson, E. R. et al. (2020) 'From eDNA to citizen science: emerging tools for the early detection of invasive species', Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 18(4), pp. 194–202. doi: 10.1002/fee.2162.

Lausch, A. et al. (2016) 'Linking Earth Observation and taxonomic, structural and functional biodiversity: Local to ecosystem perspectives', Ecological Indicators, 70, pp. 317–339. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2016.06.022.

Lavelle, P. et al. (2005) 'Chapter 12 Nutrient Cycling', in Ecosystems and Human Well-being: Current State and Trends. Millenium Ecosystem Assessment. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2003.11.012.

Leempoel, K., Hebert, T. and Hadly, E. A. (2020) 'A comparison of eDNA to camera trapping for assessment of terrestrial mammal diversity', Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 287(1918). doi: 10.1098/rspb.2019.2353.

Lelli, C. et al. (2019) 'Biodiversity response to forest structure and management: Comparing species richness, conservation relevant species and functional diversity as metrics in forest conservation', Forest Ecology and Management, 432(June 2018), pp. 707–717. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2018.09.057.

Leroy, G. et al. (2018) 'Next-generation metrics for monitoring genetic erosion within populations of conservation concern', Evolutionary Applications, 11(7), pp. 1066–1083. doi: 10.1111/eva.12564.

Liang, J. et al. (2015) 'Biodiversity influences plant productivity through niche-efficiency', Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 112(18), pp. 5738–5743. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1409853112.

Lindenmayer, D. et al. (2020) 'A checklist of attributes for effective monitoring of threatened species and threatened ecosystems', Journal of Environmental Management, 262(December 2019), p. 110312. doi: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.110312.

Lines, E. R. et al. (2022) 'The shape of trees: Reimagining forest ecology in three dimensions with remote sensing', Journal of Ecology, 110(8), pp. 1730–1745. doi: 10.1111/1365-2745.13944.

Llopis-Belenguer, C., Blasco-Costa, I. and Balbuena, J. A. (2018) 'Evaluation of three methods for biomass estimation in small invertebrates, using three large disparate parasite species as model organisms', Scientific Reports, 8(1), pp. 1–9. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-22304-x.

Loreau, M. et al. (2001) 'Ecology: Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: Current knowledge and future challenges', Science, 294(5543), pp. 804–808. doi: 10.1126/science.1064088.

Luikart, G. et al. (2010) 'Estimation of census and effective population sizes: The increasing usefulness of DNA-based approaches', Conservation Genetics, 11(2), pp. 355–373. doi: 10.1007/s10592-010-0050-7.

Magurran, A. E. (2004) Measuring Biological Diversity. Malden, Ma: Blackwell Publishing Ltd.

Magurran, A. E. et al. (2018) 'Divergent biodiversity change within ecosystems', Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 115(8), pp. 1843–1847. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1712594115.

Magurran, A. E. (2021) 'Measuring biological diversity', Current Biology, 31(19), pp. R1174–R1177. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2021.07.049.

Malhi, Y. et al. (2021) 'The Global Ecosystems Monitoring network: Monitoring ecosystem productivity and carbon cycling across the tropics', Biological Conservation, 253(January). doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2020.108889.

Malhi, Y. et al. (2022) 'Logged tropical forests have amplified and diverse ecosystem energetics', Nature. doi: 10.1038/s41586-022-05523-1.

Martin, J., Kitchens, W. M. and Hines, J. E. (2007) 'Importance of well-designed monitoring programs for the conservation of endangered species: Case study of the snail kite', Conservation Biology, 21(2), pp. 472–481. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1739.2006.00613.x.

Martin, T. E. et al. (1997) BBird Field protocol.

Masek, J. G. et al. (2013) 'United States Forest Disturbance Trends Observed Using Landsat Time Series', Ecosystems, 16(6), pp. 1087–1104. doi: 10.1007/s10021-013-9669-9.

Maskell, L. C. et al. (2019) 'Exploring relationships between land use intensity, habitat heterogeneity and biodiversity to identify and monitor areas of High Nature Value farming', Biological Conservation, 231(July 2018), pp. 30–38. doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2018.12.033.

de Mazancourt, C. et al. (2013) 'Predicting ecosystem stability from community composition and biodiversity', Ecology Letters, 16(5), pp. 617–625. doi: 10.1111/ele.12088.

McGill, B. J. et al. (2006) 'Rebuilding community ecology from functional traits', Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 21(4), pp. 178–185. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2006.02.002.

Melbourne, B. A. and Hastings, A. (2008) 'Extinction risk depends strongly on factors contributing to stochasticity', Nature, 454(7200), pp. 100–103. doi: 10.1038/nature06922.

Millard, J. et al. (2021) 'Global effects of land-use intensity on local pollinator biodiversity', Nature Communications, 12(1), pp. 1–11. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-23228-3.

Moloney, K. A. and Levin, S. A. (1996) 'The effects of disturbance architecture on landscape-level population dynamics', Ecology, 77(2), pp. 375–394. doi: 10.2307/2265616.

Montgomery, G. A. et al. (2020) 'Is the insect apocalypse upon us? How to find out', Biological Conservation, 241(October 2019). doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2019.108327.

Montgomery, G. A. et al. (2021) 'Standards and Best Practices for Monitoring and Benchmarking Insects', Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution, 8(January). doi: 10.3389/fevo.2020.579193.

Moretti, M. and Legg, C. (2009) 'Combining plant and animal traits to assess community functional responses to disturbance', Ecography, 32(2), pp. 299–309. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0587.2008.05524.x.

Mura, M. et al. (2015) 'Estimating and mapping forest structural diversity using airborne laser scanning data', Remote Sensing of Environment, 170, pp. 133–142. doi: 10.1016/j.rse.2015.09.016.

Nagendra, H. and Gadgil, M. (1999) 'Biodiversity assessment at multiple scales: Linking remotely sensed data with field information', Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 96(16), pp. 9154–9158. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.16.9154.

O'Connor, M. I. et al. (2017) 'A general biodiversity-function relationship is mediated by trophic level', Oikos, 126(1), pp. 18–31. doi: 10.1111/oik.03652.

O'Grady, J. J. et al. (2004) 'What are the best correlates of predicted extinction risk?', Biological Conservation, 118(4), pp. 513–520. doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2003.10.002.

Oksanen, J. et al. (2018) 'Package "vegan"'. R. Available at: https://cran.r-project.org/package=vegan (Accessed: 26 March 2019).

Onishi, M. and Ise, T. (2021) 'Explainable identification and mapping of trees using UAV RGB image and deep learning', Scientific Reports, 11(1), pp. 1–15. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-79653-9.

Pickett, S. T. A. and Rogers, K. H. (1997) 'Patch Dynamics: The Transformation of Landscape Structure and Function', Wildlife and Landscape Ecology, pp. 101–127. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4612-1918-7_4.

van der Plas, F. (2019) 'Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning in naturally assembled communities', Biological Reviews, p. brv.12499. doi: 10.1111/brv.12499.

Price, B. et al. (2023) 'The Habitat Map of Switzerland : A Remote Sensing , Composite Approach for a High Spatial and Thematic Resolution Product', Remote Sensing, 15(643).

Proença, V. and Pereira, H. M. (2013) 'Species-area models to assess biodiversity change in multihabitat landscapes: The importance of species habitat affinity', Basic and Applied Ecology, 14(2), pp. 102–114. doi: 10.1016/j.baae.2012.10.010.

Putman, R. et al. (2011) 'Identifying threshold densities for wild deer in the UK above which negative impacts may occur', Mammal Review, 41(3), pp. 175–196. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2907.2010.00173.x.

Rainey, J. and Holmes, F. (2023) Caledonian Pinewoods: Findings from the Caledonian Pinewood Recovery Project.

Reddy, C. S. (2021) 'Remote sensing of biodiversity: what to measure and monitor from space to species?', Biodiversity and Conservation, 30(10), pp. 2617–2631. doi: 10.1007/s10531-021-02216-5.

Reiss, J. et al. (2009) 'Emerging horizons in biodiversity and ecosystem functioning research', Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 24(9), pp. 505–514. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2009.03.018.

Robertson, R. and Wentworth, J. (2020) Understanding insect decline: Data and drivers, POSTbrief 36.

Robinson, N. M. et al. (2018) 'How to ensure threatened species monitoring leads to threatened species conservation', Ecological Management and Restoration, 19(3), pp. 222–229. doi: 10.1111/emr.12335.

Roscher, C. et al. (2012) 'Using plant functional traits to explain diversity-productivity relationships', PLoS ONE, 7(5). doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0036760.

Rudnick, D. A. et al. (2012) 'The Role of Landscape Connectivity in Planning and Implementing Conservation and Restoration Priorities', Issues in Ecology, 16. doi: 10.2298/ijgi1302021c.

Santini, L. et al. (2017) 'Assessing the suitability of diversity metrics to detect biodiversity change', Biological Conservation, 213, pp. 341–350. doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2016.08.024.

Schindler, S., Poirazidis, K. and Wrbka, T. (2008) 'Towards a core set of landscape metrics for biodiversity assessments: A case study from Dadia National Park, Greece', Ecological Indicators, 8(5), pp. 502–514. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2007.06.001.

Schweiger, A. K. et al. (2018) 'Plant spectral diversity integrates functional and phylogenetic components of biodiversity and predicts ecosystem function', Nature Ecology and Evolution, 2(6), pp. 976–982. doi: 10.1038/s41559-018-0551-1.

Seidel, D. et al. (2021) 'Predicting Tree Species From 3D Laser Scanning Point Clouds Using Deep Learning', Frontiers in Plant Science, 12(February), pp. 1–12. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2021.635440.

Shokirov, S. et al. (2023) 'Habitat highs and lows: Using terrestrial and UAV LiDAR for modelling avian species richness and abundance in a restored woodland', Remote Sensing of Environment, 285(February 2022), p. 113326. doi: 10.1016/j.rse.2022.113326.

Sirami, C., Brotons, L. and Martin, J. L. (2008) 'Spatial extent of bird species response to landscape changes: Colonisation/extinction dynamics at the community-level in two contrasting habitats', Ecography, 31(4), pp. 509–518. doi: 10.1111/j.0906-7590.2008.05403.x.

Sittaro, F. et al. (2022) 'A Machine Learning Framework for the Classification of Natura 2000 Habitat Types at Large Spatial Scales Using MODIS Surface Reflectance Data', Remote Sensing, 14(823), pp. 1–20.

Skidmore, A. K. et al. (2021) 'Priority list of biodiversity metrics to observe from space', Nature Ecology and Evolution, 5(7), pp. 896–906. doi: 10.1038/s41559-021-01451-x.

Smart, J. C. R., Ward, A. I. and White, P. C. L. (2004) 'Monitoring woodland deer populations in the UK: An imprecise science', Mammal Review, 34(1–2), pp. 99–114. doi: 10.1046/j.0305-1838.2003.00026.x.

Sousa, W. P. (1984) 'The role of disturbance in natural communities.', Annual review of ecology and systematics. Vol. 15, pp. 353–391. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.15.1.353.

Storch, F. et al. (2023) 'Linking structure and species richness to support forest biodiversity monitoring at large scales', Annals of Forest Science, 80(1), pp. 1–17. doi: 10.1186/s13595-022-01169-1.

Van Strien, A. J., Soldaat, L. L. and Gregory, R. D. (2012) 'Desirable mathematical properties of indicators for biodiversity change', Ecological Indicators, 14(1), pp. 202–208. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2011.07.007.

Sunyer, P. et al. (2016) 'Wood mouse population dynamics: Interplay among seed abundance seasonality, shrub cover and wild boar interference', Mammalian Biology, 81(4), pp. 372–379. doi: 10.1016/j.mambio.2016.03.001.

Tabak, M. A. et al. (2019) 'Machine learning to classify animal species in camera trap images: Applications in ecology', Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 10(4), pp. 585–590. doi: 10.1111/2041-210X.13120.

Tatsumi, S., Iritani, R. and Cadotte, M. W. (2021) 'Temporal changes in spatial variation: partitioning the extinction and colonisation components of beta diversity', Ecology Letters, 24(5), pp. 1063–1072. doi: 10.1111/ele.13720.

Tilman, D. (1996) 'Biodiversity : Population Versus Ecosystem Stability', Ecology, 77(2), pp. 350–363. Available at: http://www.jstor.org/stable/2265614.

Vandewalle, M. et al. (2010) 'Functional traits as indicators of biodiversity response to land use changes across ecosystems and organisms', Biodiversity and Conservation, 19(10), pp. 2921–2947. doi: 10.1007/s10531-010-9798-9.

Veech, J. A. and Crist, T. O. (2007) 'Habitat and climate heterogeneity maintain beta-diversity of birds among landscapes within ecoregions', Global Ecology and Biogeography, 16(5), pp. 650–656. doi: 10.1111/j.1466-8238.2007.00315.x.

Vereecken, N. J. et al. (2021) 'Insect biomass is not a consistent proxy for biodiversity metrics in wild bees', Ecological Indicators, 121(October 2020). doi: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2020.107132.

Waldén, E. et al. (2023) 'Biodiversity mitigates trade-offs among species functional traits underpinning multiple ecosystem services', Ecology Letters, 26(6), pp. 929–941. doi: 10.1111/ele.14220.

Wang, J., Santiago, E. and Caballero, A. (2016) 'Prediction and estimation of effective population size', Heredity, 117(4), pp. 193–206. doi: 10.1038/hdy.2016.43.

Wei, N. et al. (2021) 'Pollinators contribute to the maintenance of flowering plant diversity', Nature, 597(7878), pp. 688–692. doi: 10.1038/s41586-021-03890-9.

Weiss, F. and Linde, A. (2022) 'How to estimate carabid biomass?—an evaluation of size-weight models for ground beetles (Coleoptera: Carabidae) and perspectives for further improvement', Journal of Insect Conservation, 26(4), pp. 537–548. doi: 10.1007/s10841-022-00391-6.

Westgate, M. J. et al. (2017) 'Optimal taxonomic groups for biodiversity assessment: a meta-analytic approach', Ecography, 40(4), pp. 539–548. doi: 10.1111/ecog.02318.

White, M. A., Cornett, M. W. and Wolter, P. T. (2017) 'Two scales are better than one: Monitoring multiple-use northern temperate forests', Forest Ecology and Management, 384, pp. 44–53. doi: 10.1016/j.foreco.2016.10.032.

Whittaker, R. H. (1965) 'Dominance and diversity in land plant communities', Science, 147(3655), pp. 250–260. doi: 10.1126/science.147.3655.250.

Wiens, J. A. (1969) 'An Approach to the Study of Ecological Relationships among Grassland Birds', Ornithological Monographs, 8, pp. 1–93.

Willems, J. H., Peet, R. K. and Bik, L. (1993) 'Changes in chalk-grassland structure and species richness resulting from selective nutrient additions', Journal of Vegetation Science, 4(2), pp. 203–212. doi: 10.2307/3236106.

Wilson, J. B. (1991) 'Methods for fitting dominance/diversity curves', Journal of Vegetation Science, 2(1), pp. 35–46. doi: 10.2307/3235896.

Wilson, M. C. et al. (2016) 'Habitat fragmentation and biodiversity conservation: key findings and future challenges', Landscape Ecology, 31(2), pp. 219–227. doi: 10.1007/s10980-015-0312-3.

Winter, M., Johnson, D. H. and Shaffer, J. A. (2005) 'Variability in Vegetation Effects on Density and Nesting Success of Grassland Birds', Journal of Wildlife Management, 69(1), pp. 185–197. doi: 10.2193/0022-541x(2005)069<0185:viveod>2.0.co;2.

Wolter, P. T. and White, M. A. (2002) 'Recent forest cover type transitions and landscape structural changes in northeast Minnesota, USA', Landscape Ecology, 17(2), pp. 133–155. doi: 10.1023/A:1016522509857.

Wood, E. M. et al. (2012) 'Image texture as a remotely sensed measure of vegetation structure', Remote Sensing of Environment, 121, pp. 516–526. doi: 10.1016/j.rse.2012.01.003.

Woodcock, B. A. et al. (2019) 'Meta-analysis reveals that pollinator functional diversity and abundance enhance crop pollination and yield', Nature Communications, 10(1), pp. 1–10. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-09393-6.

Yrttimaa, T. et al. (2019) 'Detecting and characterizing downed dead wood using terrestrial laser scanning', ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing, 151(January), pp. 76–90. doi: 10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2019.03.007.

Zeller, L. et al. (2022) 'Index of biodiversity potential (IBP) versus direct species monitoring in temperate forests', Ecological Indicators, 136. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2022.108692.

Zhong, H. et al. (2022) 'Identification of tree species based on the fusion of UAV hyperspectral image and LiDAR data in a coniferous and broad-leaved mixed forest in Northeast China', Frontiers in Plant Science, 13(September), pp. 1–17. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2022.964769.

Soil health metrics

Abbas, S. Z., Wang, J. Y., Wang, H., Wang, J. X., Wang, Y. T., & Yong, Y. C. (2022). Recent advances in soil microbial fuel cells based self-powered biosensor. Chemosphere, 303, 135036. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CHEMOSPHERE.2022.135036

- Abd Malik, A. K., Madun, A., Abu Talib, M. K., Wahab, N., & Md Dan, M. F. (2023). Interpretation of soil grain size effect on electrical resistivity method. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C, 129, 103324. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PCE.2022.103324</u>
- Abed, A., Al-Shammary, G., Kouzani, A. Z., Kaynak, A., Khoo, S. Y., Norton, M., & Gates, W. (2018).
 Soil Bulk Density Estimation Methods: A Review. Pedosphere, 28(4), 581–596. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1002-0160(18)60034-7
- Allen, D. E., Singh, B. P., & Dalal, R. C. (2011). Soil Health Indicators Under Climate Change: A Review of Current Knowledge. 25–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-20256-8_2</u>
- Al-Shammary, G., Kouzani, A., Saeed, T.R., & Rodrigo-Comino. (2019). A new digital electromechanical system for measurement of soil bulk density. Computers and Electronics in Agriculture, pp.227-242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2018.11.015
- Arias ME, Gonzalez-Perez JA, Gonzalez-Vila FJ, Ball AS. Soil health -- a new challenge for microbiologists and chemists. Int Microbiol. 2005 Mar;8(1):13-21. PMID: 15906257.
- Azevedo, L., & Pereira, J. L. (2023). Deep generative inversion of ERT data for electrical resistivity. EGU23. https://doi.org/10.5194/EGUSPHERE-EGU23-15753
- Ball, B. C., Bingham, I., Rees, R. M., Watson, C. A., & Litterick, A. (2005). The role of crop rotations in determining soil structure and crop growth conditions. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, 85, 557–577. www.leafuk.org
- Bispo, A., Cluzeau, D., Creamer, R., Dombos, M., Graefe, U., Krogh, P. H., Sousa, J. P., Peres, G., Rutgers, M., Winding, A., & Römbke, J. (2009). Indicators for Monitoring Soil Biodiversity. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1897/IEAM-2009-064.1*, 5(4), 717–719. https://doi.org/10.1897/IEAM-2009-064.1
- Bodner, G., Scholl, P., & Kaul, H. P. (2013). Field quantification of wetting–drying cycles to predict temporal changes of soil pore size distribution. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 133, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.STILL.2013.05.006
- Bongiorno, G. (2020). Novel soil quality indicators for the evaluation of agricultural management practices: A biological perspective. *Frontiers of Agricultural Science and Engineering*, 7(3), 257–274. https://doi.org/10.15302/J-FASE-2020323
- Bronick, C. J., & Lal, R. (2005). Soil structure and management: a review. *Geoderma*, 124(1–2), 3–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GEODERMA.2004.03.005
- Bünemann, E. K., Bongiorno, G., Bai, Z., Creamer, R. E., De Deyn, G., de Goede, R., Fleskens, L., Geissen, V., Kuyper, T. W., Mäder, P., Pulleman, M., Sukkel, W., van Groenigen, J. W., & Brussaard, L. (2018). Soil quality A critical review. In *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* (Vol. 120, pp. 105–125). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2018.01.030

- Cardoso, E. J. B. N., Vasconcellos, R. L. F., Bini, D., Miyauchi, M. Y. H., dos Santos, C. A., Alves, P. R. L., de Paula, A. M., Nakatani, A. S., Pereira, J. de M., & Nogueira, M. A. (2013). Soil health: looking for suitable indicators. What should be considered to assess the effects of use and management on soil health? *Scientia Agricola*, *70*(4), 274–289. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0103-90162013000400009
- Cation exchange capacity | UK Soil Observatory | UK Research and Innovation. (n.d.). Retrieved December 5, 2023, from https://www.ukso.org/agri-pocs/cation-exchange-capacity.html
- Cicconardi, F., Fanciulli, P. P., & Emerson, B. C. (2013). Collembola, the biological species concept and the underestimation of global species richness. *Molecular Ecology*, *22*(21), 5382–5396. https://doi.org/10.1111/MEC.12472
- Cleophas, F., Isidore, F., Musta, B., Mohd Ali, B. N., Mahali, M., Zahari, N. Z., & Bidin, K. (2022). Effect of soil physical properties on soil infiltration rates. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 2314(1), 012020. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/2314/1/012020
- Creamer, R. E., Hannula, S. E., Leeuwen, J. P. V., Stone, D., Rutgers, M., Schmelz, R. M., Ruiter, P. C. de, Hendriksen, N. B., Bolger, T., Bouffaud, M. L., Buee, M., Carvalho, F., Costa, D., Dirilgen, T., Francisco, R., Griffiths, B. S., Griffiths, R., Martin, F., Silva, P. M. da, ... Lemanceau, P. (2016). Ecological network analysis reveals the inter-connection between soil biodiversity and ecosystem function as affected by land use across Europe. *Applied Soil Ecology*, *97*, 112–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APSOIL.2015.08.006
- de Andrade Bonetti, J., Anghinoni, I., de Moraes, M. T., & Fink, J. R. (2017). Resilience of soils with different texture, mineralogy and organic matter under long-term conservation systems. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *174*, 104–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.STILL.2017.06.008
- de Oliveira, J. A. T., Cássaro, F. A. M., & Pires, L. F. (2021). Estimating soil porosity and pore size distribution changes due to wetting-drying cycles by morphometric image analysis. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 205, 104814. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.STILL.2020.104814
- Dexter, A. R. (1988). Advances in characterization of soil structure. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *11*(3–4), 199–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-1987(88)90002-5
- Directorate General for the Environment. (2023). Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council on Soil Monitoring and Resilience (Soil Monitoring Law) Annexes. <u>https://www.fao.org/3/a0541e/a0541e.pdf</u>
- Ekschmitt, K., Stierhof, T., Dauber, J., Kreimes, K., & Wolters, V. (2003). On the quality of soil biodiversity indicators: abiotic and biotic parameters as predictors of soil faunal richness at different spatial scales. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 98(1–3), 273–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8809(03)00087-2

- Feeney, C. J., Robinson, D. A., Keith, A. M., Vigier, A., Bentley, L., Smith, R. P., Garbutt, A., Maskell, L. C., Norton, L., Wood, C. M., Cosby, B. J., & Emmett, B. A. (2023). Development of soil health benchmarks for managed and semi-natural landscapes. *Science of The Total Environment*, 886, 163973. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2023.163973
- Fierer, N., Wood, S. A., & Bueno de Mesquita, C. P. (2021). How microbes can, and cannot, be used to assess soil health. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 153, 108111. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SOILBIO.2020.108111
- Gardi, C., Montanarella, L., Arrouays, D., Bispo, A., Lemanceau, P., Jolivet, C., Mulder, C., Ranjard, L.,
 Römbke, J., Rutgers, M., & Menta, C. (2009). Soil biodiversity monitoring in Europe: ongoing activities and challenges. *European Journal of Soil Science*, 60(5), 807–819. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2389.2009.01177.X
- Gorzelak, M. A., Holland, T. C., Xing, X., & Hart, M. M. (2012). Molecular approaches for AM fungal community ecology: A primer. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, *90*(2), 108–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MIMET.2012.04.010
- Griffiths, B. S., Faber, J., & Bloem, J. (2018). Applying Soil Health Indicators to Encourage Sustainable
 Soil Use: The Transition from Scientific Study to Practical Application. *Sustainability 2018, Vol. 10, Page 3021, 10*(9), 3021. https://doi.org/10.3390/SU10093021
- Griffiths, B. S., Römbke, J., Schmelz, R. M., Scheffczyk, A., Faber, J. H., Bloem, J., Pérès, G., Cluzeau, D., Chabbi, A., Suhadolc, M., Sousa, J. P., Martins Da Silva, P., Carvalho, F., Mendes, S., Morais, P., Francisco, R., Pereira, C., Bonkowski, M., Geisen, S., ... Stone, D. (2016). Selecting cost effective and policy-relevant biological indicators for European monitoring of soil biodiversity and ecosystem function. *Ecological Indicators*, 69, 213–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOLIND.2016.04.023
- Guerra, C. A., Bardgett, R. D., Caon, L., Crowther, T. W., Delgado-Baquerizo, M., Montanarella, L., Navarro, L. M., Orgiazzi, A., Singh, B. K., Tedersoo, L., Vargas-Rojas, R., Briones, M. J. I., Buscot, F., Cameron, E. K., Cesarz, S., Chatzinotas, A., Cowan, D. A., Djukic, I., Van Den Hoogen, J., ... Eisenhauer, N. (2021). Tracking, targeting, and conserving soil biodiversity: A monitoring and indicator system can inform policy. *Science*, *371*(6526), 239–241. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.ABD7926/SUPPL FILE/ABD7926_GUERRA_SM.PDF
- Gyawali, A. J., & Stewart, R. D. (2019). An Improved Method for Quantifying Soil Aggregate Stability.
 Soil Science Society of America Journal, 83(1), 27–36.
 https://doi.org/10.2136/SSSAJ2018.06.0235
- Haghnazari, F., Shahgholi, H., & Feizi, M. (2015). Factors affecting the infiltration of agricultural soils: review. *International Journal of Agronomy and Agricultural Research (IJAAR)*, 6(5), 21–35. http://www.innspub.net

- Hallett, P., Mooney, S., & Whalley, R. (2013). Soil physics: New approaches and emerging challenges. *European Journal of Soil Science*, *64*(3), 277–278. https://doi.org/10.1111/EJSS.12053
- Harris, M., Hoskins, H., Robinson, A., Hutchison, J., Withers, A., Deeks, L., Harris, Way, J., & Rickson,
 L. &. (2023). JNCC Report 737: Towards Indicators of Soil Health (Project Report).
 https://jncc.gov.uk/
- Hughes, H. M., Koolen, S., Kuhnert, M., Baggs, E. M., Maund, S., Mullier, G. W., & Hillier, J. (2023).
 Towards a farmer-feasible soil health assessment that is globally applicable. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 345, 118582. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JENVMAN.2023.118582</u>
- Idowu, O. J., Van Es, H. M., Abawi, G. S., Wolfe, D. W., Ball, J. I., Gugino, B. K., Moebius, B. N., Schindelbeck, R. R., & Bilgili, A. V. (2008). Farmer-oriented assessment of soil quality using field, laboratory, and VNIR spectroscopy methods. *Plant and Soil*, 307(1–2), 243–253. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11104-007-9521-0/TABLES/4
- Issaka, S., & Ashraf, M. A. (2017). Impact of soil erosion and degradation on water quality: a review. *Geology, Ecology, and Landscapes, 1*(1), 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/24749508.2017.1301053</u>
- Jin, K. S., Fallgren, P. H., Santiago, N. A., Ren, Z. J., Li, Y., & Jin, S. (2020). Monitoring in situ microbial activities in wet or clayey soils by a novel microbial-electrochemical technology. Environmental Technology & Innovation, 18, 100695. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ETI.2020.100695
- Karlen, D. L., Veum, K. S., Sudduth, K. A., Obrycki, J. F., & Nunes, M. R. (2019). Soil health assessment: Past accomplishments, current activities, and future opportunities. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 195, 104365. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.STILL.2019.104365</u>
- Kawanobe, M., Toyota, K., & Ritz, K. (2021). Development and application of a DNA metabarcoding method for comprehensive analysis of soil nematode communities. Applied Soil Ecology, 166, 103974. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APSOIL.2021.103974
- Kubát, J.-F., Vrána, M., Zumr, D., & Kavka, P. (2022). Testing of soil aggregate stability by means of laser diffractometer Mastersizer 3000. EGU22. https://doi.org/10.5194/EGUSPHERE-EGU22-4928
- Kumar, S., Babankumar., Thakur, R., Kumar, M. (2015). Soil pH sensing techniques and technologies:
 A review. International Journal of Advanced Research in Electrical, Electronic and Instrumental Engineering, 4(5):4452–4456
- Lardo, E., Coll, P., Le Cadre, E., Palese, A. M., Villenave, C., Xiloyannis, C., & Celano, G. (2012).
 Electromagnetic induction (EMI) measurements as a proxy of earthworm presence in Southern
 French vineyards. Applied Soil Ecology, 61, 76–84.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APSOIL.2012.06.003

- Le Roux, P. C., Aalto, J., & Luoto, M. (2013). Soil moisture's underestimated role in climate change impact modelling in low-energy systems. *Global Change Biology*, *19*(10), 2965–2975. https://doi.org/10.1111/GCB.12286
- Lehmann, J., Bossio, D. A., Kögel-Knabner, I., & Rillig, M. C. (2020). The concept and future prospects of soil health. *Nature Reviews. Earth & Environment*, 1(10), 544. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/S43017-020-0080-8</u>
- Li, X., Xu, X., Wang, K., & Li, X. (2023). Estimation of root zone soil moisture at point scale based on soil water measurements from cosmic-ray neutron sensing in a karst catchment. Agricultural Water Management, 289, 108511. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AGWAT.2023.108511
- Li, Z., Bluhm, S. L., Scheu, S., & Pollierer, M. M. (2022). Amino acid isotopes in functional assemblages of Collembola reveal the influence of vertical resource heterogeneity and root energy supply on trophic interactions in soil food webs. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *174*, 108815. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SOILBIO.2022.108815</u>
- Liu, X., Ren, T., & Horton, R. (2008). Determination of Soil Bulk Density with Thermo-Time Domain Reflectometry Sensors. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 72(4), 1000–1005. https://doi.org/10.2136/SSSAJ2007.0332
- Merrington, G. (2006). The development and use of soil quality indicators for assessing the role of soil in environmental interactions. *Environmental Agency*, 1–248. www.environment-agency.gov.uk
- Neher, D. A. (2001). Role of Nematodes in Soil Health and Their Use as Indicators. *Journal of Nematology*, 33(4), 161. /pmc/articles/PMC2620512/?report=abstract
- Neiendam Nielsen, M., & Winding, A. (2002). *Microorganisms as indicators of soil health With contributions from Data sheet Title: Microorganisms as Indicators of Soil Health*. http://www.dmu.dkwww.dmu.dkwww.mem.dk/butik
- Nimmo, J. R. (2004). Porosity and Pore Size Distribution. *Encyclopaedia of Soils in the Environment*, *3*, 295–303.
- Nuria, R., Jérôme, M., Léonide, C., Christine, R., Gérard, H., Etienne, I., & Patrick, L. (2011). IBQS: A synthetic index of soil quality based on soil macro-invertebrate communities. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 43(10), 2032–2045. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SOILBIO.2011.05.019
- Osman, K. T. (2013). Physical Properties of Soil. *Soils*, 49–65. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-5663-2_5
- Pagliai, M., Vignozzi, N., & Pellegrini, S. (2004). Soil structure and the effect of management practices. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *79*(2), 131–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2004.07.002

- Pulleman, M., Creamer, R., Hamer, U., Helder, J., Pelosi, C., Pérès, G., & Rutgers, M. (2012). Soil biodiversity, biological indicators and soil ecosystem services—an overview of European approaches. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 4(5), 529–538. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COSUST.2012.10.009</u>
- Pyingkodi, M., Thenmozhi, K., Karthikeyan, M., Kalpana, T., Palarimath, S., & Kumar, G. B. A. (2022).
 IoT based Soil Nutrients Analysis and Monitoring System for Smart Agriculture. 3rd
 International Conference on Electronics and Sustainable Communication Systems, ICESC 2022
 Proceedings, 489–494. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICESC54411.2022.9885371
- Sardans, J., & Peñuelas, J. (2021). Potassium Control of Plant Functions: Ecological and Agricultural Implications. *Plants*, *10*(2), 1–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/PLANTS10020419</u>
- Schirrmann, M., Joschko, M., Gebbers, R., Kramer, E., Zörner, M., Barkusky, D., & Timmer, J. (2016). Proximal Soil Sensing-A Contribution for Species Habitat Distribution Modelling of Earthworms in Agricultural Soils? https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0158271
- Schoenholtz, S. H., Miegroet, H. Van, & Burger, J. A. (2000). A review of chemical and physical properties as indicators of forest soil quality: challenges and opportunities. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 138(1–3), 335–356. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(00)00423-0
- Singh, B. P., & Sainju, U. M. (1998). Soil physical and morphological properties and root growth. *HortScience*, 33(6), 966–971. <u>https://doi.org/10.21273/HORTSCI.33.6.966</u>
- Soetedjo, A., & Hendriarianti, E. (2023). Development of an IoT-Based SCADA System for Monitoring of Plant Leaf Temperature and Air and Soil Parameters. Applied Sciences 2023, Vol. 13, Page 11294, 13(20), 11294. https://doi.org/10.3390/APP132011294
- Soil texture and cation exchange capacity | AHDB. (n.d.). Retrieved December 5, 2023, from https://ahdb.org.uk/knowledge-library/soil-texture-and-cation-exchange-capacity
- Stewart, R. D., Jian, J., Gyawali, A. J., Thomason, W. E., Badgley, B. D., Reiter, M. S., & Strickland, M.
 S. (2018). What We Talk about When We Talk about Soil Health. *Agricultural & Environmental Letters*, 3(1), 180033. https://doi.org/10.2134/AEL2018.06.0033
- Stott, D. E. (2019). Recommended Soil Health Indicators and Associated Laboratory Procedures.
- Trivedi, P., Delgado-Baquerizo, M., Anderson, I. C., & Singh, B. K. (2016). Response of soil properties and microbial communities to agriculture: Implications for primary productivity and soil health indicators. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 7(JULY2016), 181004. https://doi.org/10.3389/FPLS.2016.00990/BIBTEX
- Vázquez, M. B., Amodeo, M. R., & Bianchinotti, M. V. (2016). Estimación de la biomasa fúngica en un suelo del sudoeste de la provincia de Buenos Aires (Argentina) con una tinción directa con blanco de calcoflúor. *Revista Argentina de Microbiología*, 48(3), 252–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RAM.2016.05.006

- Wagg, C., Bender, S. F., Widmer, F., & Van Der Heijden, M. G. A. (2014). Soil biodiversity and soil community composition determine ecosystem multifunctionality. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111(14), 5266–5270. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1320054111/SUPPL FILE/SAPP.PDF</u>
- Williams, H., Colombi, T., & Keller, T. (2020). The influence of soil management on soil health: An on-farm study in southern Sweden. *Geoderma*, 360, 114010. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GEODERMA.2019.114010
- Worrall, F., Burt, T. P., & Howden, N. J. K. (2016). The fluvial flux of particulate organic matter from the UK: the emission factor of soil erosion. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, *41*(1), 61–71. https://doi.org/10.1002/ESP.3795
- Yang, T., Siddique, K. H. M., & Liu, K. (2020). Cropping systems in agriculture and their impact on soil health-A review. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 23, e01118. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GECCO.2020.E01118